

THE EFFECT OF MANDATORY AUDIT ROTATION ON THE AUDIT QUALITY: EVIDENCE FROM INDONESIA

MARIA DIAS IKA SALAMA (S1006808)

MASTER OF ECONOMICS
SUPERVISED BY: Drs. R.H.R.M. AERNOUDTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	3
1.1. THEORETICAL RELEVANCE	5
1.2. PRACTICAL RELEVANCE	5
1.3. THESIS STRUCTURE	6
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1. INTRODUCTION	7
2.2. AUDIT TENURE	7
2.2.1. Positive effects from long tenure	10
2.2.2. Negative effects of long tenure	11
2.3. MANDATORY AUDIT ROTATION	13
2.3.1. Mandatory Audit Rotation as Solution	15
2.3.2. Mandatory Audit Rotation as Limitation	17
2.4. AUDIT QUALITY	18
2.4.1. Audit Tenure and Audit Quality	21
2.4.2. Mandatory Audit Rotation and Audit Quality	22
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD	24
3.1. DATA COLLECTION	24
3.2. RESEARCH MODEL	24
3.2.1. Dependent Variable	25
3.2.2. Independent Variables	26
3.2.3. Control Variables	26
3.3. Data Analysis and research quality indicators	27

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND RESULTS	28
4.1. DATA EVALUATION	28
4.1.1. Data Description	28
4.2. TEST OF HYPOTHESES	33
4.2.1. Multicollinearity Test	33
4.2.2. Panel Data Set Analysis	34
4.3. DISCUSSION OF THE FINDINGS	39
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	40
5.1. CONCLUSIONS	40
5.2. LIMITATIONS	43
5.3. SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	44
REFERENCES	45
APPENDICE	52

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Auditors' reputations have been damaged by numerous accounting scandals during the last decades. It started with the collapse of one of the world's top audit firms, Arthur Andersen, due to the Enron scandal in 2002. The credibility of audited financial reports, audit quality and independency of auditors were questioned by different stakeholders (Chaney & Philipich, 2002; Firth, Rui & Wu, 2010). Moreover, the improvement of auditor independency also became a concern to repair the audit firm reputation. Independency is one of the essential attitudes expected from an auditor in delivering their service (Corbela et al, 2015). The users of the audit service are assessing the independence of the audit firm from the financial statement of the client's companies which are supposed to fairly represent the risks and misstatements.

However, there has been an assumption that the independency of an audit firm could be harmed by the influence of close relationships or unnecessary social ties between auditors and the audited due to the relationship built during the auditing period (Arel et al., 2005; Gates et al., 2007; Dao et al., 2008). As an attempt to restore public trust and improve audit quality, there have been developments related to regulation, standards and codes of conduct. One of the changes with the regulations proposed is the mandatory rotation of auditors (Gates, Lowe & Reckers, 2007; Firth, Rui & Wu, 2010).

The mandatory audit rotation regulations vary among countries and differ in its length of the time frame and form (Firth, Rui & Wu, 2010; Rong, 2017). The mechanism of limiting the years for an audit engagement is intended to ensure the efficiency and effectiveness of the auditing processes in order to improve audit quality (Rong, 2017). The Sarbanes-Oxley Act (2002) requires the leading audit partner and audit review partner (or concurring reviewer) to be rotated every five years on all auditing engagement of a public company. The audit firm rotation has also been implemented in some countries such as Israel, Brazil, Spain and Italy (Catanach & Walker, 1999). The EU formally

adopted mandatory audit firm rotation into law on May 27, 2014. The legislation mandates a change in auditors after ten years of service for publicly traded entities (effective from June 2016).

Additionally, of long audit tenure, it is assumed that it could decrease auditors' independence, since over a long-time period there may be over-familiarity between the client and auditors (Mautz and Sharaf, 1961; Rong, 2017). Over-familiarity decreases auditors' awareness in assessing and detecting the risk of the client due to over confidentiality in performing the procedures since it has become a routinized activity. Consequently, the likelihood of auditor issuing a biased opinion will increase (Sayyar et al., 2014). Thus, by regularly switching auditors assigned seems promising to address this issue.

Despite the positive impacts of mandatory audit rotation on audit quality, there are some arguments against the regulation of the mandatory audit rotation. From the point of view of audit rotation's opposing side, long audit tenure is believed to enable the creation of deeper knowledge and understanding about the client's company business and industry which in turn leads to higher audit quality (Johnson, Khurana, & Reynolds, 2002; Myers, Myers, & Omer, 2003; Carcello & Nagy, 2004). Thus, they argue that audit rotation will cause the loss of such knowledge and consequently increase the likelihood of audit failure (Chi et al., 2009; Williams & Wilder, 2017).

Therefore, this study aims to draw attention to the ambiguity role of mandatory audit rotation and the influence of audit tenure to the audit service quality. In regards to the debates from previous studies related to the effect of audit tenure and mandatory audit rotation to audit quality, the research question formulated to guide this study is as follows:

"Do the length of audit tenure and the implementation of mandatory audit rotation influence the quality of audit service in Indonesian companies?"

In order to investigate the association between mandatory audit rotation, audit tenure and audit quality, this study employs a literature review and is linked to empirical evidence gathered from secondary data analysis.

1.1. THEORETICAL RELEVANCE

The objective of this thesis is to provide an evidence-based research on the actual impacts of the audit tenure and mandatory audit rotation on the audit service quality delivered by audit firms in Indonesia. The thesis may contribute to the current debate related to the effect of mandatory audit rotation for audit quality. Older studies indicate mixed results and opinions regarding to this issue. On one hand, some papers show the contrast relation of the audit tenure and audit quality (Arel et al., 2005; Gates et al., 2007; Dao et al., 2008). One the other hand, there are also some recent studies which generally show a positive trend between auditor tenure and audit quality (Johnson, Khurana & Reynolds, 2002; Myers, Myers, & Omer, 2003; Carcello & Nagy, 2004) and indicate that mandatory rotation may prove to be harmful to audit quality (Chi et al., 2009; Williams & Wilder, 2017).

Therefore, this study focuses on the effect resulting from the mandatory auditor switching and audit tenure for the quality of audit. This research is expected to offer additional clarification points with regard to the ambiguity of prior results in the existing literature. Furthermore, considering the focus of the literature is frequently placed on developed countries, this thesis adds contribution to widen the perspective of the existing literature related to this issue in developing countries, by studying the topic in the Indonesian setting.

1.2. PRACTICAL RELEVANCE

Another contribution is made by analyzing the impact of audit tenure and the implementation of mandatory audit rotation to audit quality by using evidence from Indonesia. In Indonesia, the bankruptcy of many companies after the Global Crisis of 2008 has raised concern about the poor audit quality which caused by the lack of auditor independency (Siregar et al., 2012). The phenomenon of audit rotation occurring in Indonesia is interesting and worthy of deeper study considering the regulation for mandatory audit rotation that has been officially published by the government (Finance Minister Decree No. 423/KMK.06/2002; PMK No. 17/PMK.01/2008). The implementation of audit rotation applied in Indonesia, which has been already legally the part of the Finance Minister regulation and mandated for public companies listed in the Indonesian Stock

Exchange. Hence, the findings of this research could be used as input for the future development of the regulation in order to improve the audit service quality in Indonesia.

Since there has been only a limited number of studies related to this topic with a focus on Indonesia, the results of this study could contribute to enrich knowledge on the effect of mandatory auditor rotation regulation in Indonesia.

1.3. THESIS STRUCTURE

The structure of this thesis is as follows. Firstly, the explanation of the research problem and the research's objective are provided in chapter one the Introduction section. Chapter two offers a discussion about the earlier literature and theory used as the framework to answer the research question: "Do the length of audit tenure and the implementation of mandatory audit rotation influence the quality of audit service in Indonesian companies?"

The strategy and planning related to the research method used in this study are discussed and explored in chapter three. The fourth chapter provides the results and findings of this study by examining and analyzing the data and information gathered in chapter three. Furthermore, the process of this study will be summed up and concluded in the last chapter. In addition, chapter five also provides the limitations of this study and provides recommendations for the future research

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides a review of prior research related to the main elements of this study namely, the effect of audit tenure, mandatory rotation to the quality of audit service. This section is expected to support the process of identifying the gap existing in the previous studies, specifically related to the issue investigated in this thesis. This review is used as a guide to the framework developed in order to answer the research question of this study. Based on the study of findings from prior research, there are mixed results regarding the relationship investigated in this study. Therefore, this section is arranged from both the opponents and the proponents' side of audit tenure and audit rotation to audit quality improvement to help in contributing the additional clarification points to the ongoing debate related to the topic of this research.

The literature review in this chapter is structured into six sections. Followed by the second section on the discussion of the effect of long-term audit tenure on audit quality. Similar to the previous discussion, the third element is used to describe both pros and contras perspective over the effect of audit rotation regulation to the quality of audit service. The fourth section covers a discussion about audit quality which in this study is proxied by auditors' intention to issue a going-concern statement, associated with their required level of competence and independence as a professional assurance provider. The last section represents the summarized review of the related topic which leads to the postulation of hypotheses to help answer the research question of this thesis.

2.2. AUDIT TENURE

Auditors must be aware of the circumstances which may influence their independence in performing audit procedures. Audit tenure is highly related to the professionalism of auditors and consequently audit quality. Nevertheless, this topic is still being debated from different perspectives. There are two primary streams related to the effect of audit tenure. The first stream of thought assumes that longer audit tenure could create deeper knowledge of the company

business and industry for auditors and thus lead to higher audit quality (Johnson et al., 2002; Myers et al., 2003; Carcello & Nagy, 2004). While, the other stream claimed that the independence of auditors could be harmed by the impact of close relationship or the presence of unnecessary social ties between auditor and auditee due to the relationship built through long audit period (Arel et al., 2005; Gates et al., 2007; Dao et al., 2008).

Prior research from Johnson et al., (2002) empirically demonstrates that audit tenure positively influences the improvement of financial reporting outcomes. By exploring the notion of agency theory, they stated that,

"Financial reports are a principal means of communicating financial information to those outside an entity. Given the existence of information asymmetries and the potential for conflicts of interest between company management and outside users of financial information, an audit of financial reports by a third party (or alternative monitoring arrangements) can enhance the quality of the financial information reported by management" (p. 641).

The role of auditors thus has an influence on the agency problems existing within a company. Therefore, within this study the quality of audit services is investigated to see whether their practice in mitigating agency problem within companies is reliable and trustworthy or instead will worsen the conflict of principal-agents' interest problem due to the lack of competence and independency.

Myers et al. (2003) also provide compelling ideas regarding the advantage of audit tenure by providing evidence from the AICPA's Quality Control Inquiry Committee of the SEC Practice Section. There are 406 cases of alleged audit failure between 1979 and 1991 which suggests that the likelihood of audit failure is three times higher in its first or second audit of a given client (AICPA 1992). Their research finding empirically showed that the longer audit tenure is generally correlated with less dispersion in the distribution of Discretionary Accrual and that auditors caused greater constraint on accruals earning managements as the tenure is increased. The differences of the results of Myers et al. (2003) with Johnson et al.'s (2002) is that their results do not imply that letting firms remain with the same auditors would improve audit quality.

Additionally, the study by Carcello and Nagy (2004) supports these findings with their results which indicate that incidences of fraudulent financial reporting mostly occur in the early years of an audit engagement and not when audit tenure is long. Based on the assumption of agency theory, they see that there is a strong interest from regulators, policy makers, private sectors and large institutional investors which somehow interferes with the relation between audit tenure and audit quality. The findings of Carcello and Nagy (2004) are similar to Johnson et al. (2002) which provide statistical evidence on the positive influence of long audit tenure on audit quality by examining the association between the audit years (three years or less as short tenure; and nine years or more as long tenure) and fraudulent financial reporting from SEC Accounting and Auditing Enforcement Releases (AAERs) about the rule violation cases of Securities Exchange Act.

In contrast, a CPA journal written by Arel et al. (2005) theorized that regulators and business actors have interest in considering long-term relationship with auditors to create a level of closeness which could impede the independence of auditors. Arel et al. (2005) thus analyze the potential conflict of interest existing in the companies which apparently involve the role of auditors.

Furthermore, a study by Gates et al. (2006) revealed that forcing companies to limit the length of audit tenure and regularly rotate their external auditor generates greater confidence of the user of financial statement, especially in a company with strong control and an emphasis on corporate governance. By using two different settings for behavioral studies into the behavior of participants from the business and legal community, they provide statistical evidence in support of the negative effects from long audit tenure.

In addition, the concern for long-term audit tenure on auditors' independence, and consequently audit quality is also analyzed by Dao et al. (2008) through an examination of investors' perceptions. Their aim is to fill a void in literature by using shareholders "perception as the empirical grounding to examine the effects of audit tenure" (p. 309). Dao et al. (2008) emphasize that the perception of investors is important to generate greater confidence with regard to the reliability of financial statement. The investor's confidence means company has a strong and vibrant foundation in

capital market. From their study to 898 companies of U.S listed firms, they found that there is a significant proportion of opponents or abstaining vote in long audit tenure. This suggest that the passivity of investors has an adverse for audit quality.

Summarizing, all of the prior research reviewed for this topic leads to a view that long audit tenure may have two alternative outcomes. One alternative which assumes that it is better to have longer engagement with the same auditing firm, while the opposing side pose a doubt and concern of long audit tenure that it may hamper audit quality. Therefore, the following section shows a more in detail explanation with regard to the positive and negative effects of long audit tenure.

2.2.1. Positive effects from long tenure

Most of the client companies which need an assurance from the auditing firm for their financial statements are multinational or government-owned enterprises. These companies have complex and extensive business segments and activities. With regard to this complexity, it is important that auditors as the assurance provider of their performance to have sufficient knowledge basis and expertise in the industry-specifics of the companies (GAO, 2003; PwC, 2013). Hence, if auditor tenure is longer, auditors will have sufficient time to appropriately explore and enrich their information and understanding related to the clients' business process.

Moreover, by having a longer working period with one specific client auditors could reduce reliance on clients' management estimation and representation and consequently resulting in a more effective and reliable audit report (Crabtree et al., 2006). This assumption is supported by the research findings of Myers et al. (2003) which indicate that longer audit tenure is not associated with a decline in audit quality.

Another supportive argument of long audit tenure is provided by the research of Geiger & Raghunandan (2002) which suggests that longer audit tenure resulted in better audit quality. This is shown through a positive correlation between the length of audit tenure and audit quality in

their analysis. The likelihood of restricted going concern opinions increases along with the longer period of the audit tenure due to higher experience gained by auditors in detecting risks and misstatement over time. A similar outcome is provided by Kaplan & Mauldin (2008) which also believe that longer audit tenure creates a higher quality of audit service. They found that audit quality, represented by earnings quality, increases along with the length of audit tenure.

Furthermore, most of the audit failures and lawsuit issues occur in the initial years of audit engagement due to the vulnerability of the starting process (Pierre & Anderson, 1984; Stice, 1991; Said & Khasharmeh, 2014). In other words, longer audit tenure will enhance audit quality, as it helps to secure auditors from failure and lawsuits. Casterella et al. (2010) also pointed out another vulnerability of short-period audit engagements by using the sample of companies charged by the Security Exchange Commission (SEC) with fraudulent financial reporting. They concluded that there is more likelihood of undetected fraud in the early years of an audit engagement.

In addition, Johnson et al. (2012) also pointed out that there are more audited financial-reporting with lower quality produced from short audit tenures and not from long audit tenures. The poor quality of audited financial reporting is resulted by the lack of knowledge of auditors in early audit stage which hamper the audit processes effectiveness (Lu & Sivaramakrishnan, 2009). In sum, all of these studies believe that long relationship of auditors and clients are actually enhancing the quality of the audit.

2.2.2. Negative effects of long tenure

The long company-auditor relationship has raised concern related to the threat of auditors' independence, as there may exist a conflict of interest between these two entities. This section draws the attention to several concerns for the potential negative problems that result from longer periods of tenure.

From Management

Davis et al. (2003) provide evidence that audit tenure is associated with lower financial-reporting quality, and suggest that management gains greater opportunity to interfere with the auditing processes, as auditor tenure increases. Although knowledge and a proper understanding of the industry-specific business of the clients' company are essential, independence is also another critical attribute needed by auditors to produce a high-quality audit. Management intervention could be considered as one of the threats to independence which should be aware of (Arel et al., 2005).

From Auditors

Multiply repeated engagements could decrease auditors' effort in performing the audit procedures. Routinized activity with the same clients in several consecutive years leads to an overfamiliarity and over-confident. This statement is strengthened by study results of Chi et al. (2005) which suggest that lower earnings quality occur when auditors has "excessive familiarity" with the client and their business. In other words, over-familiarity reduces the skepticism and awareness of auditors to properly detect and assess material misstatement and risks in an audit engagement. In addition, Vanstraelen (2000) provides an evidence that long-term relationship of auditors and client essentially increases the likelihood of an unqualified opinion issuance. Most of auditors are more willing to issue an unqualified audit report only in first two years of their engagements than in the late years of their mandate.

From Both Sides

Besides management intervention and auditors' effort reduction, the close relationship from long tenure should be considered as one of the most important concerns in securing independence. Based on Dao et al. (2008), a survey of 635 US entities in long-term engagements reflects that investors realized a negative impact on audit quality. Their findings show that the longer audit tenure causes lower audit quality due to the existence of auditor-client relationship (Catanach & Walker, 1999; Kingstone et al. 2017). Additionally, International Federation of Accountants (IFAC)

and US Government Accountability Office (GAO) also stated that long audit tenure may compromise auditor independence and consequently, the objectivity in the audit (IFAC, 2003; GAO, 2004; EU, 2010). A close relationship between two entities raises an opportunity to the occurrence of opinion shopping due to an eagerness of auditors to please the client instead of being the objective third party (Arel et al., 2005).

2.3. MANDATORY AUDIT ROTATION

Due to the big Enron financial scandal and other scandals during last decade, the trustworthiness and independence of auditing firms are questioned (Daniel & Booker, 2011; Onwuchekwa et al., 2012). There is a significant decrease of public trust towards the auditing firms' integrity. Thus, there has been some regulation development made to improve and repair the reputation of the audit service and restore public trust in audit firms. One of the regulations developed is mandating the rotation of audit engagement for all active auditing firms. The mandatory rotation of auditor is expected could raise the independence of audit profession.

Concept

As defined by Onwuchekwa et al. (2012), audit rotation requires a specific limitation to the period of an auditing firm to be allowed in performing audit service for their clients. The auditing firm has to be switched after a certain period in order to secure the independence quality, trust of the audit service quality. Auditors changing rule is expected to be a solution for the potential over-familiarity issue in audit service. This statement was reinforced by Gates et al. (2006) that mandatory firm rotation is one of the effective corporate governance measures.

Variety

In Indonesia, the mandatory rotation of auditors has become a national concern, especially after the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 was enacted (Siregar et al., 2012). This country has experienced some changes and alterations of the mandatory auditor rotation regulations. First of all, the Decree of the Minister of Finance No.423/KMK.06/2002 which stated that companies have to

replace the external auditor's contract after 5-years audit period and for a public accountant's after 3-years period. After that, this regulation was revised by the Decree of the Minister of Finance No.17/PMK.01/2008 which extent the external auditor period from 5 years to 6 years. Whereas, the regulation of public accountants' service rotations was enacted in the Article 11 PP 20/2015, Article 11 Verse (1), which stated: The service of audit engagement by a public accountant is limited to 5 (five) year's financial records in succession. In accordance with a study conducted by Junaidi et al. (2012), mandatory audit rotation regulation is potentially able to address two issues: (1) The intervention of client to auditors' neutrality and objectivity due to the existence of long and close relationship and; (2) Potential negative impacts resulted from the closeness of auditors and client relationship such as a modified audit opinion.

Besides Indonesia, there are some other countries in Asia which also adopt regulation of audit switching. Started from March 2002, The Monetary Authority of Singapore requires maximum 5 consecutive years of audit engagements between public accounting firm and incorporated local bank in Singapore. In addition, Government of India mandated all banks, insurance firms, and listed government institution to regularly switch their external auditor every 4 years.

The development of mandatory audit rotation in Asia was triggered by a major bankruptcy suffered by many companies and banks due to the poor quality of audited financial statement in association with lack of auditor independence in (Siregar et al., 2012). Table 1 provides various developed regulations of mandatory audit rotation which have been enacted by some countries in Asia.

Table 1. Comparison of Mandatory Audit Rotation Regulations in Asia

COUNTRY MANDATORY AUDIT FIRM ROTATION

Indonesia Every 6 years for listed companies and SOE

Singapore Every 5 years for local banks

India Every 4 years for banks, insurance firms and government institutions

China Every 5 years for State-owned Enterprises (SOE)

Thailand Every 5 years for listed companies

Despite all the advantages expected from mandatory audit rotation, there are some critics to the effectiveness of audit rotation. These critics lead to a long debate between the opponent and the proponent of this regulation. On the one hand, audit rotation may address the independence problem of auditors since there will be no over-familiarity in the relationship between auditors and the clients (Mautz and Sharaf, 1961; Davis et al. 2000; Rong, 2017). On the other hand, Cameran et al. (2005) state that audit rotation has negatively influenced the effectiveness and raised agency cost in auditing service in practice. Therefore, the following sections provide reviews regarding previous studies with different perspectives regarding the mandatory audit rotation to ground this research in seeing audit rotation either is a solution or a limitation to improve audit quality.

2.3.1. Mandatory Audit Rotation as Solution

One of the main cause of the lack independence of auditors in performing audit procedure is the presence of unnecessary social ties between auditors and the clients. The presence of a personal close relationship between the management of the client's company and auditors could be a threat to the objectivity and neutrality of the audit team in performing audit procedures. Therefore, these ties are supposed to be reduced or eliminated to secure auditors' independence.

Davis et al. (2000) shows that the mandatory audit rotation is positively affect the quality of audit service. The longer time of auditors work on the same client, the lower will be the awareness of auditors in detecting material misstatement due to a behavior shifting of treating the audit procedures as a routine activity or, so called, over-confident. The awareness degradation of auditors could potentially cause a greater possibility of auditing service failure. Therefore, by

implementing audit rotation the problem of social ties and the excessive-familiarity could be reduced.

The switching regulation will bring a brand-new neutral face to assess the financial statements of the client which will increase the probability of misstatement to be uncovered (Said & Khasharmeh, 2014). Moreover, rotating the audit team will create greater skepticism and fresh point of view in inquiries procedures of audit service in order to retest the accounting practices used or the internal control over financial reporting of the clients. Hence, auditors could properly address and assess the risk and others financial issues of the client under the mandatory audit rotation. In other words, audit rotation system is enabling the auditing firms to explore more innovation in delivering the best and most efficient audit service for their clients.

In addition, The Commission on Public Trust & Private Enterprise's Report (2003) stated that although the rotation process is likely to raise the auditing costs in initial years, the burden is lighter compared to the possible future costs resulted from the investor confidence crisis. Additionally, audit rotation is also able to reduce low-balling of other non-audit services and eliminate the revolving door phenomenon (Biggs, 2002). The revolving door phenomenon is the condition where there is a potential threat to independence by the hire of an audit firm's employee by the client's company due to a close relationship. This phenomenon may cause lack of professional skepticism as the remaining personnel in the audit team possibly put too much confidence in the decision of the ex-auditor (Warrick & Booker, 2012).

Both the client companies and the auditing firm could be considered as an economic agent which have their own interest. Thus, there will always be potential agency problem occur in the auditing process. The regulation of mandatory audit rotation seems promising to be a solution to mitigate the agency problems.

2.3.2. Mandatory Audit Rotation as Limitation

In spite of the assumptions that audit rotation is beneficial in improving auditors' independence and reducing the agency problems, there are also some contra arguments against mandatory audit rotation. Chi et al.'s (2009) findings do not support that mandatory audit rotation increases audit quality. In accordance with case studies from Taiwan which implemented a rotation period requirement every five consecutive years in 2004. Their results showed **inconsistent and insufficient supporting evidence** to the fact that the mandatory audit firms' rotation could convincingly increase audit quality.

Furthermore, Copeland (2002) and Myers et al. (2003) argue that the rotation process may result in increasing cost at the start-up process for auditing firm. Besides the increasing of cost, he also mentioned that requiring rotation of auditors would mean that institutional knowledge will be lost and on each new engagement auditors will climb a steep learning curve all over again. In other words, the audit rotation will cause a deficiency both in cost and audit procedure implementation. This contra-perspective is strengthened by Williams and Wilder (2017) who suggest that deficiencies in audit rotation occur due to repeated learning and understanding process of new engagement.

In addition, Catanach and Walker (1999) were also seeing the issue of "destroyed value by rotation" because the prior auditors could not share the information about the industry, specific accounting system used and business market of the client companies to the successor auditors. This statement is supported by Dunham (2002), which argued that there will be another concern of current auditors may not have the same level of skill and expertise needed to perform the audit procedure for certain specific industry of clients. However, the management of client companies also tends to resist auditor rotation due to intricate, time-consuming and costly of the new auditor selection and familiarizing processes (AICPA, 1992). Hiring new audit firm means all the understanding and assessment of client's business processes and risks have to be restarted again.

Moreover, from the auditing firm's side, the increasing frequency of audit engagement rotation may cause higher employees turnover. According to Ernst & Young (2011), employing audit firm rotation would also be cumbersome from a staff retention perspective, where rotation among entire teams of auditors might cause professionals to seek other careers to avoid excessive travel or work relocation. Continuous turnover of clients could also inflate firms' direct costs through incessant recruiting expenses, relocation of personnel, and severance payments (BDO, 2011). There are many auditing firms having a high disruption in the workforce management due to continuous demand (Williams & Wilder, 2017).

2.4. AUDIT QUALITY

According to DeAngelo (1981), audit quality is evaluated from two characteristics, namely auditor's competency and independence. Since the quality of audit represents the probability of auditors detecting a mistake and reporting the mistake, these two characteristics are needed to enable auditors enhancing audit quality (DeAngelo, 1981; Coram et al., 2008; Peecher & Piercey, 2008). Firstly, competence means that auditing must be done by auditors who have the sufficient knowledge regarding the client-specific business and adequate technical training qualification. Secondly, the independence means that auditors have a neutral point of view and objective professional judgment in performing all audit procedures and reporting the audited financial report for the client.

The quality of audit critically depends on the capability and professionalism of auditors. The absence of these characteristics will raise the likelihood of audit failures such as an issuance of the qualified report for statements containing material errors (Lee et al., 1999) or a failure on detecting risk and material misstatements. Auditors must act as an honest and neutral entity which free from taking any side of particular parties because their assurance will affect the public, especially if their client is a multinational or a state-owned enterprise. Besides honesty and neutrality, adequate technical capability which is represented by experience and relevance educational background also play an essential role in improving audit quality. In accordance with

Peecher & Piercey (2008), to find the violation of clients' report and accounting system an auditor must have well-trained skepticism and sufficient knowledge in the related field.

The measurement basis used for audit quality is varies, thus it is hard to precisely measuring audit quality. These proxies could be classified into two groups namely, input-based proxies and output-based proxies of audit quality. The input-based proxies of audit quality include auditor-specific characteristics and auditing fee. The output-based measurement of audit quality refer to material restatement, financial reporting characteristics or going-concern opinion (Francis and Michas, 2012).

The first input-based proxy, auditors-specific characteristic, is commonly measured through the size of the auditing firm, which particularly categorized into big N and non-big N auditing firm. Big N auditing firm is assumed having higher likelihood to deliver better audit quality. Another proxy of input-based proxy is auditing fee which is used by Hoitash et al. (2007). In their research, auditing fee is considered as a representation of how much effort auditors in assessing the client's financial statement. They implied that higher auditing fee indicates higher motivation and effort of auditors in detecting risk on the financial statement, consequently, generate higher chances to deliver better quality of auditing service.

In addition, the first output-based side of audit quality proxies, material restatement, is actually a good representation to audit quality because it directly point out the quality of audit process. Unfortunately, the observation found related to material statement is rare. Another alternative measurement for audit quality is financial reporting characteristics which is measured by calculating the discretionary accruals. Nevertheless, this proxy is a vulnerable container with measurement error and bias due to an intertwined inextricably between financial reporting and audit quality (Ball et al., 2012).

Not all of these audit quality proxies will be used in this research due to limited availability of specific auditing data for Indonesian Listed Companies. As a proxy to help answering the research question of this study, the going concern opinion is chosen as the representation of audit quality. Going concern opinion is selected as the proxy of audit quality due to its functionality to predict a potential bankruptcy of a company which reflects a prominent expected role of auditors (Peursem et al. 2005). Moreover, audit opinion is a final product of auditing job, thus, it could be assumed that the whole auditing process is reflected on the final product.

Naturally, as the assurer, auditor will assess the credibility of the financial report in form of professional opinion. On one condition, when the financial condition of the client is unstable or in distress, auditors are supposed to issue a Going-Concern Opinion or even in extreme difficulties certain companies may have to liquidate (Foster & Shastri, 2016). On the other hand, if the company performance is in a favorable position the professional opinion should be issued by auditors is Non Going-Concern. All of these responsibility are obviously required auditors to unexceptionally have competency and independency in order to provide credible opinion. Hence, audit quality main components which are independence and competence could be mirrored by looking at the audit opinion.

In addition, issuing going concern opinion as the result could possibly upset the clients' shareholders. In this sense, the independence of auditor is tested and there will not be any ulterior motive of getting "additional incentives" from sugar coating the issue of the company. Furthermore, this opinion could potentially increase the shareholders' awareness and boost the management's future performance the shareholders and the management of the client.

As the reinforcement, the study of Menon and Williams (2010) revealed that obtaining a going-concern opinion is related to negative stock price reactions which consequently stimulate or require management to take a more active role in signaling company's difficulties in order to get help for fixing their financial health. Auditors is obliged to provide information that they believe investors should be aware of, and since the audit report is a public record, what is stated in the

report will come to the public's attention. Thereby, auditors' going concern opinion plays an important role in making shareholders aware of companies' financial distress, as it serves as a warning of potential bankruptcy (Sormunen et al., 2013).

Hence, from the going-concern opinion the quality of audit service represents the real working integrity of auditors as they issue this opinion purely for to reveal financial condition of the company and not to please the client. In other words, the audit service which is proxied by this opinion is encouraging the poor performer company to be better. Therefore, the role of auditors is extended from an assurance provider to an indirect performance booster especially for company with financial distress.

In sum, the going-concern opinion is chosen as the proxy for the quality of auditing service due to its capability as the final product of auditing job to mirror the required main components of audit quality, pure auditors' integrity and the post-issuance effect for future performance of the client.

2.4.1. Audit Tenure and Audit Quality

As a prominent element to the quality of audit, audit tenure has been debated among prior literature. On one hand, audit tenure seems better when it lasts longer (Johnson et al., 2002; Myers et al., 2003; Carcello & Nagy, 2004). The greater knowledge, deeper and higher experience regarding one specific client and lower reliance on client's management estimation and presentation are expected could be sufficiently gathered from a longer audit tenure. On the other hand, as a threat to auditors' independence and consequently to audit quality, it constructs a perspective of 'the longer tenure cause the worse quality' (Arel et al., 2005; Gates et al., 2007; Dao et al., 2008).

First, the impact to client's management, longer audit tenure is potentially widened the opportunity of management to interfere the auditing processes to hide their bad performance (Davis et al. 2003; Arel et al., 2005). Secondly, the impact of long audit tenure to auditors is the

potential problem of audit effort and skepticism degradation due to over-familiarity and over-confident (Vanstraelen, 2000; Chi et al., 2005). Another impact to both sides is a higher chance of opinion shopping and willingness of auditors to please the clients due to the existence of close relationship they have during long audit engagement (Catanach & Walker, 1999; Arel et al., 2005; Kingstone et al., 2017).

Based on these debates, to direct this research in contributing for additional clarification points to the current debates regarding this topic in the existing literature with a focused evidence to Indonesian cases, two hypotheses are postulated on the association of audit tenure and its effect to audit quality as below:

Hypothesis 1a: The relationship between the length of audit tenure and the quality of audit service is positively correlated.

Hypothesis 1b: The relationship between the length of audit tenure and the quality of audit service is negatively correlated.

2.4.2. Mandatory Audit Rotation and Audit Quality

Based on the existing literature, mandatory audit regulation, as one of the attempt to restore public trust regarding auditing firm's integrity, specifically the quality of audit product, (Onwuchekwa, 2012) is still being debated by the proponents and the opponents side. One school states mandatory audit switching is able to secure auditor independence, reduce the excessive familiarity problem and elevate the skepticism in auditors' professional judgments (Davis et al. 2000; Said & Khasharmeh, 2014).

Another school is conversely seeing audit rotation as a constraint which cause a higher cost at the start-up process of audit engagement, a steep learning curve for auditors, resistance from management due to complexity in auditing selection procedures and higher employees' turnover in auditing firm (Catanach & Walker, 1999; Copeland, 2002; Myers et al. 2003; Ernst & Young, 2011; Williams & Wilder, 2017). These assumptions suggest that the impacts of mandatory audit

rotation are still mixed between the proponents who see it as a solution and the opposing side who see it as a limitation to the effort of improving the quality of audit service. Therefore, the second hypotheses are formulated as follows:

Hypothesis 2a: The relationship between the mandatory auditor rotation and the quality of audit service is positively correlated.

Hypothesis 2b: The relationship between the mandatory auditor rotation and the quality of audit service is negatively correlated.

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHOD

3.1. DATA COLLECTION

Due to the intention of this study to draw an evidence from developing country, specifically from

Indonesia, the population used is referred to the public companies listed in Indonesian Stock

Exchange. However, all companies from financial sectors are excluded from this study due to the

incomparability with the other companies. Based on the study of Fama and French (1992), high

leverage which is considered normal for financial firms is more likely as an indicator of distress

circumstances for non-financial firms.

In addition, the sample for this study is selected by using the non-probability sampling method.

Non-probability sampling is utilized to select units from a population based on personal judgment

of the researcher (Saunders, 2012). This technique is also called a purposive sampling method

because of the criteria which are pre-set to frame the sample. The criteria used to select the

sample for this study consists of two points, namely: (1) The non-financial sector companies listed

in Indonesian Stock Exchange; (2) Companies published financial report consecutively in research

period; and (3) Companies with complete availability of data to get a complete observation. From

these criteria, the total sample firms selected are 114 firms and in total 912 firm data observations

which are used for the material for the analysis process.

All financial and audit data are obtained through a database platform provided in Radboud

University, namely Thomson Reuter DataStream and Eikon. Moreover, the period of observation

chosen for this thesis is after the financial crisis, from 2009 - 2016.

3.2. RESEARCH MODEL

The objectives of this research are to investigate whether the length of audit tenure and the

implementation of audit rotation regulation influences the quality of audit service, by using

quantitative statistical approach. The research model used to measure the relationship between

24 | Page

audit tenure and mandatory audit rotation on audit quality which is tested to answer the research question and the hypotheses developed in the prior section. Based on Richardson (2010), the regression analysis is calculated by several tests such as percentages, means, and standard deviation. The results of these formulas are applied and used in the regression analysis, as shown in the equation below:

QUA =
$$\alpha$$
 + β 1TEN + β 2ROT + β 3SIZE + β 4ROA + β 5LEV + β 6REP + $_{e}$

Notation:

QUA : Audit quality delivered by the audit firm which will be reflected through the going-

concern opinion given by auditors for the client' companies.

TEN : The relationship length periods between auditor and client which substantively

happened, measured in years.

ROT : Dummy variable, which equals to 1 for the rotation is in compliance with

Indonesian mandatory rotation regulation, and 0 the otherwise.

SIZE : Natural logarithm of company's total assets.

ROA : Return on Assets, measured by dividing net income with total assets of the

company.

LEV : The leverage of debt, measured by dividing total debts with total capital of the

company.

REP : Dummy variable, which equals to 1 for big 4 auditing firms, and 0 for non-big 4

auditing firms.

 α : Constants

e : Error

3.2.1. Dependent Variable

As a guide to answer the question of this research, audit quality measurement proxy used is auditors' decision of issuing going concern opinion. The left-hand side variable which is showed in

term of QUALITY is divided into two categories namely: (1) Going-Concern Opinion (given as 1); and (2) non-Going Concern Opinion (given as 0). The measurement of going-concern reflects the main characteristics of audit quality which are independence and competence. The competence of auditors in detecting and assessing the risks of the company before forming the judgment that a company is in a distress condition and the independence to report their finding will be reflected in the issuance of the going-concern opinion. Hence, the quality of audit service is proxied by this variable.

3.2.2. Independent Variables

The first independent variable represents the duration of the relationship between an auditor and client which is measured in years (TENURE). The length of audit tenure data is gathered by calculating total engagement year between one auditing firms with one specific client company. The second independent variable is the mandatory auditor rotation (ROTATION) which shows whether there has been a change or switch of auditor done by the client or not. As regulated in Indonesia, the maximum length of audit engagement is 5 years consecutively. Therefore, this variable is measured by using the dummy variable, where 1 shows that there has been an auditor rotation in compliance with the mandatory rotation regulation in Indonesia, and 0 represents there is no auditor switching in a company for more than 5 years.

3.2.3. Control Variables

This study uses some additional variables as the control variables in order to enhance the expected results. By adding control variables, there are some advantages which will potentially beneficial for the credibility of the results since it could lower the available degrees of bias and introduce some complication which is usually underestimated or ignored (Bernerth et al., 2017).

The selection process of control variables used in this study is based on some existing studies. First, the firm size (SIZE) which is represented by the natural logarithm of company's total assets. This variable is chosen due to its capability to differentiate various potential risks a firm may have such

as larger negotiating power for larger firms in compared with smaller size company (Carey & Simnett, 2006). The second control variable is Return on Asset (ROA) of the company, as the proxy of the company's level of profitability. This variable is measured by calculating the total net income with the total asset of the company. Thirdly, the debt leverage of company (LEV) is used as one of the control variables. This variable is proxied by the calculation of total debts divided by total capital of the company. Based on Carey and Simnett (2006), this notion is important to be observed due to its potential risks related to the level of debt.

In addition, the reputation of auditing firm (REPUTATION) which is categorized into big-4 firms (given as 1) and non-big4 firms (given as 0). This variable is used as a control variable because it may have direct influence on the audit service quality, as stated in Firth and Tan (1998) big 4 has higher likelihood to produce greater quality of audit service due to larger size, higher provided resources, wider geographical scope and broader experience in auditing various sectors of companies. The selection of control variables incorporated for this study is reflected some of the essentials aspects which used for the prediction process of a going-concern opinion.

3.3. Data Analysis and research quality indicators

This thesis uses a regression analysis to test the association between audit firm rotation, audit firm tenure and the quality of audit, additionally the selected control variables. By using regression technique this research will shows the level significance or insignificance of the relationship between independent and dependent variables. Based on Gauss-Markov theorem, the regression assumption has to be the Best, Linear, Unbiased Estimator (BLUE) of each linear combination of the observation (Berry & Feldman, 2011). In doing so, several additional tests are included such as elimination of multicollinearity and autocorrelation.

Furthermore, to ensure the quality of this research, the literature and theory used in this research are obtained from top world-wide journal platforms. Besides, all of financial and audit data utilized for this study are gathered from the verified database provider.

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION AND RESULTS

4.1. DATA EVALUATION

4.1.1. Data Description

Descriptive statistics for each variable is explained in table 2. This table explains the total observations of the Indonesian public companies regarding the sample in this research which in total consists of 912 data observations. The variables listed consist of one dependent variable, two independent variables and four control variables, namely: QUA (Audit Quality), ROT (Audit Rotation), TEN (Audit Tenure), SIZE (Firm Size), ROA (Firm Profitability Level), LEV (Firm Debt Leverage), and REP (Auditing Firm Reputation).

The audit tenure variable represents the duration of the existing audit engagement between auditing firm and one specific client's company, which has a minimum value of 1 year and a maximum value of 19 years, with an average value of 5,764254 years and a standard deviation of 2,292545. Audit quality, audit rotation and auditing firm reputation are categorical variable with a minimum variable value of 0, and a maximum of 1 with the standard deviation of 0, 4039552; 0, 464559 and 0, 4838167, respectively. The variable of Firm Size is measured by the natural logarithm of total assets which has range from IDR 8.532.539 to IDR 91.066.070.129 with an average and standard deviation at IDR 6.349.274.974 and IDR 13.473.810.232, respectively. Additionally, the profitability and the debt leverage level of the public firms in this research have minimum value of -91,45 and -820,27 and maximum point of 245,97 and 747,22 by using the ratio of return on assets (ROA) and the ratio of total debts per total capital of the company. Furthermore, the dependent variable in this research is a dummy variable with categories of 1 and 0, which indicate Going Concern and non-Going Concern opinion.

In addition, table 2 shows three control variables with incomplete observations. Firm Size, Return on Assets and Firm Leverage only have 910,906 and 892 observation out of total 912 observations

needed for this research. Therefore, these missing value are replaced by the mean value or the average amount of each variable.

Table 2. Summarization and Descriptive Statistics of Variables

Variable	Observation	Mean	Standard Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
TEN	912	5,764254	2,292545	1	19
ROT	912	0,5822368	0,464559	0	1
SIZE	910	6349274974	13473810232	8532539	91066070129
ROA	906	6,851236	14,95401	-91,45	245,97
LEV	892	34,35493	79,86788	-820,27	747,22
REP	912	0,372807	0,4838167	0	1
QUA	912	0,7949561	0,4039552	0	1
Size_Complete	912	6349274974	13473810232	8532539	91066070129
Logsize	912	21,10092	1,775701	15,9594	25,23485
Leverage_Complete	912	34,35493	78,98631	-820,27	747,22
Loglev	912	3,012145	1,546213	-4,60517	6,61636
ROA_Complete	912	6,851236	14,90468	-91,45	245,97
Qua_Fixed Effect	912	0,125	0,1208762	0,0001633	0,4580442

Moreover, the table 3 shows data of audit engagement duration from Indonesian public companies. In accordance to the audit rotation regulation of Indonesia and SOX in 2002, the maximum period of audit engagement is supposed to be 5-6 year in consecutive. This table indicates 35, 64 % out of total observation which have more than 6 years of audit tenure and the remaining 64, 36 percent of the samples are in compliance with the regulation to have maximum 5-6 years of audit engagement year.

From table 3, the shortest tenure of auditing firm and the client's company from period after financial crisis in 2009 to 2016 is 1 year, whereas the longest duration is 19 years.

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of Audit Tenure

YEAR									TI	ΞN										TOTAL
12/11	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	101712
2009	47	15	10	4	6	6	7	3	4	8	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	114
2010	28	35	7	7	3	5	5	6	3	3	8	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	114
2011	20	21	27	4	7	2	5	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	114
2012	17	17	16	19	3	7	2	5	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	0	0	0	0	114
2013	16	12	13	14	15	3	6	2	5	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	0	0	0	114
2014	16	13	10	10	10	13	2	6	2	4	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	0	0	114
2015	4	15	12	8	10	10	13	2	6	2	4	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	0	114
2016	1	5	14	12	8	10	10	13	1	6	2	4	5	6	3	3	8	0	3	114
TOTAL	149	133	109	78	62	56	50	42	32	37	31	33	29	23	17	14	11	3	3	912

In addition, the dummy variable of audit rotation is represented by the data summarization in table 4. This table provides the comparison between company with rotation and company without audit rotation in Indonesia. Company with rotation is proxied by value of 1 and 0 is for company without rotation. Based on the table, there are 381 cases or 41, 78% of total observations in period 2009 – 2016 do not comply with the rotation regulation in Indonesia and SOX 2002. On the other hand, of the remaining 58, 22% of the samples or 531 cases in period 2009 - 2016 regularly conduct switching of audit engagement in every 5 years.

Table 5 reflects another dummy variable in this research, audit quality, the only dependent variable in the research. In accordance with the explanation in chapter 3, audit quality in this thesis is measured through the Going Concern Opinion. This opinion is issued when a client's company needs a further concern due to the distress condition (Peursem et al., 2005).

In order to reach the conclusion of giving a going concern opinion, the competence and independence of auditors are sufficiently required, especially the tasks of detecting misstatements, assessing risk and neutral intention for reporting all information to the users of the financial statement. In other words, going concern opinion is a reflection of the expected role of auditors (Peursem et al., 2005).

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of Audit Rotation

	F	ROT	
YEAR	With	Without	TOTAL
	Rotation	Rotation	
2009	82	32	114
2010	80	34	114
2011	79	35	114
2012	72	42	114
2013	70	44	114
2014	59	55	114
2015	49	65	114
2016	40	74	114
TOTAL	531	381	912

Table 5 shows 725 cases or 79, 49% of all samples which receive a going-concern opinion from their auditors, whereas the remaining 20, 51% of the sample have a non-going concern opinion. Additionally, to ensure the reflection of going concern opinion of the real firm's financial condition, the other firm performance indicators such as firm profitability and firm leverage are also measured as the control variables.

Table 5. Descriptive Statistics of audit quality (Going Concern & Non-Going Concern Opinion)

		QUA	
YEAR	Going Concern	Non-Going Concern	TOTAL
	Opinion	Opinion	
2009	101	13	114
2010	103	11	114
2011	105	9	114
2012	111	3	114
2013	109	5	114
2014	87	27	114
2015	54	60	114
2016	55	59	114
TOTAL	725	187	912

Besides, the auditing firm reputation which is classified to two categories, big four and non-big four auditing firm, is also used as another control variable. According to Firth and Tan (1998), the popularity of big four auditing firm somehow affects the quality of audit service. Big four auditing firms are more likely to deliver a better quality of audit service due to larger resources and labor availability and wider scope of clients. Nevertheless, some companies are reluctant to use big 4 service due to higher or premium audit fee of the big four compared to the non- big four firms (Campa, 2013).

From table 6, the empirical data show that there are more public companies which hire non-big four auditing firm, at 62, 71 % or 572 observations of total observation data. On the contrary, the remaining 340 companies' observation in 2009-2016 placed their trust to be audited by the big four auditing firm.

Table 6. Descriptive Statistics of Auditing Firm Reputation

	RI	ΕP	
YEAR	Big-4	Non Big-4	TOTAL
	Auditing Firm	Auditing Firm	
2009	40	74	114
2010	43	71	114
2011	42	72	114
2012	42	72	114
2013	44	70	114
2014	43	71	114
2015	43	71	114
2016	43	71	114
TOTAL	340	572	912

4.2. TEST OF HYPOTHESES

4.2.1. Multicollinearity Test

The hypotheses are tested by conducting a logistic regression analysis. Before testing the hypotheses, a test has to be performed to control the multicollinearity. Multicollinearity occurs when there are two or more variables have correlation. The presence of correlation among multiple variables within the model could harm the result of this research which is caused by the predictors' effect which are not pure due to the correlation.

One way to detect multicollinearity is by testing the correlations between the variables. Multicollinearity is indicated by correlations among the variables higher than 0.7. The correlation matrix is presented in table 7 below. The correlation matrix shows that no correlation is higher than 0.7. Therefore, there is no multicollinearity issues have arisen in this research. As the absence of multicollinearity issues in this research means there is no violation in the observations and the logistic regression method are allowed to test the hypotheses.

Table 7. Correlation of Variables Matrix

	TEN	DOT	DED	0114	, .		ROA
	TEN	ROT	REP	QUA	Logsize	Loglev	_Complete
TEN	1,0000						
ROT	-0,8448	1,0000					
REP	0,6390	0,6100	1,0000				
QUA	0,0133	0,0332	0,2118	1,0000			
Logsize	0,4015	0,3653	0,4807	0,2861	1,0000		
Loglev	0,006	0,0096	-0,0163	-0,0546	0,0095	1,0000	
ROA_Complete	0,1796	0,1668	0,2766	0,2199	0,2517	-0,2166	1,0000

4.2.2. Panel Data Set Analysis

The empirical data used for this research is reflecting a panel data set. Due to multiple companies or cases involved in the observation of 9-years period, panel data analysis is the most suitable approach to be used for testing the hypotheses of this research.

In accordance with Mummolo and Peterson (2017), the fixed effects regression is frequently used to reduce the likelihood of selection bias. They stated that panel data set is used to systematically differ the unobserved ways that could affect the outcome of interest. In other words, the fixed effect is more frequently used due to its capability to produce an estimation of a variable's average effect within units over time (Allison, 2009). Furthermore, more explanation of the application of the fixed effects regression to the observations in this research is provided in table 9.

However, in order to ensure the validity of fixed effects regression used in the panel data set an additional test from Durbin-Wu-Hausman is performed. Based on the research of O'Brien and Patacchini (2006), in the case of measurement error the Hausman test is used to distinguish the difference in asymptotic biases between and within the estimators group. The Hausman test is

included in the standard procedure for analyzing the panel data set by discriminating the fixed effects and random effects model. In the following section the result of Hausman test is provided in the Table 8.

4.2.2.1 Hausman Test

Table 8. The Hausman Test Results

	Coefficients								
	(b)	(B)	(b-B)	sqrt(diaf(V_b-V_B)					
	QUA_fe	QUA_re	Difference	S.E.					
TEN	-0,537329	-0,217482	-0,319848	0,0697673					
ROT	0,446423	1,261998	0,815575	0,2944739					
Logsize	-0,356627	0,563394	0,920021	0,3632217					
ROA_Complete	0,035767	0,037729	0,001962	0,0113212					
Loglev	-0,077358	-0,114062	0,036704	0,1375503					
REP	2,776317	2,690887	0,08543	1,227877					

Chi2 (6) =
$$(b-B)'[(V_b - V_B)]$$
 (b-B)
= $46,64$
Prob > Chi2 = $0,0000$

From the Table 8, the result of the Hausman test to determine the most appropriate model between random effects estimator and fixed effects estimator could be seen. Based on Hausman's formulation (1978), the significant difference required or alpha (α) is 0, 05 or 5%. The calculation under the Hausman test table shows Probability > Chi (cross section random value) is at 0, 0000 which is lower than 0, 05. This indicates that there is no significant difference (p > 0,05) which necessarily suggests that the random effects estimator is securely free from bias, and preferably suggests to use the fixed effects estimator (Clark and Linzer, 2012). Hence, the most suitable

model for this research is Fixed Effects Regression. In sum, Hausman test's result assures that the Fixed Effects Regression is allowed to test the hypotheses of this thesis.

4.2.2.2. Fixed Effect Regression

Table 9. Fixed Effects Regression Results

QUA	ODDS	STANDARD	Z	P> z	{95% Conf. Interval}	
	RATIO	ERROR				
TEN	0,584307	0,575261	-5,46	0,000	0,481769	0,708669
ROT	1,562713	0,797008	0,88	0,381	0,575113	4,246249
Logsize	0,700034	0,26698	-0,94	0,35	0,331502	1,478263
ROA_Complete	1,036414	0,166413	2,23	0,026	1,004305	1,069549
Loglev	0,925559	0,151447	-0,47	0,636	0,67162	1,275511
REP	16,05976	21,55837	2,07	0,039	1,156378	223,0377

Based on the result in Table 9, the regression shows that variable tenure (TEN) has a significant effect on the dependent variable which is audit quality (QUA). This is indicated by the P-value of variable TEN which is 0, 0000. Since this amount is lower than the minimum P-value (0, 05) required to be significant, thus variable TEN has no effect on audit quality in Indonesia. Furthermore, for every unit increase in variable audit tenure (TEN), the odds ratio indicates 0,584307 probability of audit quality will increase as well. This finding is in align with the results of Johnson et al. (2002), Myers et al. (2003) and Carcello & Nagy (2004) who assumed that audit tenure will not harm the competence and independence of auditors, consequently, as well as the quality.

Another hypothesis is about the influence of mandatory audit rotation (ROT) to audit quality has a contrast finding with the variable TEN. The P-value of variable ROT shows an insignificant correlation to audit quality, at 0,381 > 0, 05. From the odds ratio, there shows 1,562 higher

probability of audit quality will still increase when the mandatory audit rotation is not performed. This result is reinforcing the perspective of audit rotation's opposing side such as Chi et al. (2009) and Williams and Wilder (2017). They stated that performing audit rotation will raise deficiency due to repeated learning and understanding process of new engagement which consequently reduce audit quality. In other words, based on the observation in Indonesia the mandatory audit rotation does not positively influence the improvement of audit quality.

As mentioned before, the choice of control variables in the model is informed by the literature that aids the prediction and assessment processes of a going-concern opinion (DeFond et al. 2002; Carey & Simnett, 2006). Logsize and Loglev are the representation of Firm Size (SIZE) and Firm Leverage (LEV) variable which specifically made to be used on the STATA program for these variables. From the findings, there are two control variables which have significant relationship to audit quality, namely, variable Return on Assets (ROA) as the proxy for firm profitability and variable auditing firm reputation (REP), as the proxy of big 4 and non-big 4 classification. P-value of ROA is lower than the minimum required amount of P, at 0,026 < 0, 05. Additionally, REP also shows its significance to audit quality through its low P-value at 0,039 < 0, 05.

The odds ratio defines that every unit increase in variable ROA has 1, 0364 probability of audit quality will increase as well. ROA is a financial ratio which commonly used as an indicator of the effectiveness of the firm management by assessing how well a firm is performing and effectively allocate their resources (Samiloglu et al., 2017). Thus, ROA is one important element used by the auditor as a consideration material before issuing going concern opinion. If the company does investments that lower the ROA value, auditors could assess how corporate risk management measures in judging and addressing the causes and effect of the problem. In other words, return on assets has a significant effect on audit quality which consistent with the studies of Mutchler (1985) and Rudkhani & Jabbari (2013).

Similar to ROA, the other control variable with significant effect to audit quality is variable auditing reputation (REP). There is 16, 05976 higher probability of audit quality will be better when the auditing firm is coming from the big 4 group of auditing firm (PwC, KPMG, EY and Deloitte). This finding is supporting the assumption that big 4 auditing firms are more likely to give a better quality of audit service due to their wider experience, better resources and bigger responsibility to retain global reputation and credibility of delivering a high quality audit service.

In addition, since big 4 auditing firms have more resources and assets, thus, the economic dependence to a client's company which harmful for auditors independence could be eliminated. This result empirically suggests that the case in Indonesia related to the relationship between auditing firm reputation and audit quality is consistent with the studies of Firth and Tan (1998). They stated that big 4 firms have higher likelihood to produce greater quality of audit service due to the firm's size, better resources available, wider geographical scope of clients and broader experience in performing audit in various sectors of clients.

On the other hand, the remaining control variables in this research apparently showed insignificant correlation with audit quality, namely Firm Size (SIZE) and Firm Leverage (Loglev). From the P-value of SIZE and Loglev which are 0, 35 and 0,636. These value are higher than 0, 05 or 5 % which defines that firm size and the leverage level of the company are not significantly influence to the quality of audit. Thus, in Indonesian case these results are in contrast with the assumption of Carey and Simnett (2006) which stated that the size of the company and leverage debt ratio are important to be assessed by auditors before issuing the opinion due to its capability to reflect the financial capability of a company.

The finding of firm size's insignificancy relationship with audit quality is reinforced by Ettredge et al. (2011), which similarly found that apparently the size of a company is not a significant determinant for a company to transparently disclose their bad performances. Additionally, the finding related to the insignificant correlation between the firm's debt leverage ratio and audit

quality is supported by the study of Aledwan et al. (2015) which assumed that the debt composition or debt size of a firm is not supposed to have effect on auditors' professional opinion.

4.3. DISCUSSION OF THE FINDINGS

Based on the analysis, the fixed effects regression shows that audit tenure has a positive effect on audit quality in Indonesia. The result is supported by 58% probability of odds ratio that implies the quality of audit service will increase in line with the increase of the audit tenure. This gives a clarification points to the proponent side of long audit tenure, specifically based on the empirical evidence in Indonesia. The advantages from long audit tenure are expected to provide a deeper knowledge and understanding for auditors in Indonesia to improve their competence without harming their independence in order to give professional audit opinion. Therefore, the result is supporting hypothesis 1a, which stated that audit tenure has a positive influence on audit quality and hypothesis 1b is rejected.

On the contrary, mandatory audit rotation which is initially made to improve auditors' independence does not significantly work in Indonesia. Hence, hypothesis 2a is rejected and hypothesis 2b is accepted. Based on the data gathered, there is a grammatical increase in the number of companies without rotation from 2009 – 2016. This indicates that until the latest period of the research, the regulation on auditor switching has not been effectively enforced. This result is similar to the study of Junaidi et al.(2016) which also discovered an insignificant correlation between the mandatory rotation regulation and audit quality. They find that there were a lot of companies in their observation which replace the mandated audit rotation with an artificial rotation. In an artificial audit rotation, the rotation is conducted only by changing the names of the auditing firm.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

5.1. CONCLUSIONS

Several accounting scandals in last decades, such as, Enron Case have dropped the public trust in

the quality of audit service (Chaney & Philipich, 2002; Firth, Rui & Wu, 2010). The quality of audit

is supposed to represent adequate competence and the independence of auditors (DeAngelo,

1981). Nevertheless, there are many suspected factors that influence the competence and

independence of auditors. One of these factors is the intervention of auditor-client close

relationships which leads to over-familiarity.

On one hand, over-familiarity could potentially harm the independence of auditors because the

relationship between the client and auditors may lower the skepticism and effort of auditors. On

the other hand, instead of damaged auditors' independence, audit tenure is believed able to

generate a deeper knowledge and understanding of the client's company business for auditors. In

other words, long audit tenure is able to improve the competence of auditors in delivering their

tasks.

Furthermore, another focus of this study is on the effect of mandatory audit rotation to the quality

of audit service in Indonesia. In 2002, the SOX and government of Indonesia have officially

announced that regularly switching the auditing firm assigned at one company at certain duration

is mandatory (The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 2002; Finance Minister Decree No. 423/KMK.06/2002).

They assumed that by rotating the audit firm, over-familiarity and other agency problems could

be addressed. Thus, audit rotation is expected to enhance the independence of auditors as well

as restore public trust in auditing firm's integrity.

Nevertheless, this regulation is criticized by some opponents who found out that by performing

audit rotation may increase deficiency and destroy auditors' client-specific knowledge and

40 | Page

understanding (Catanach and Walker, 1999; Williams and Wilder, 2017). Additionally, most of the management of client's companies also tend to resist auditor rotation due to intricate, time-consuming and costly of the new auditor selection and familiarizing processes (AICPA, 1992).

Based on the mixed results of the previous study, this thesis is aimed to provide additional clarification points for the on-going debate about the influence of audit tenure and the effect of mandatory audit rotation regulation to audit quality, specifically in Indonesia. By formulating the research question as follows, "Do the length of audit tenure and the implementation of mandatory audit rotation influence the quality of audit service in Indonesia?". The regression analysis is performed on the panel dataset of non-financial sector companies in Indonesia Stock Exchange. The total sample companies are 114 companies with 912 observation data in period after financial crisis, 2009 - 2016.

Firstly, the result shows that apparently in Indonesia audit tenure has a positive influence with the quality of audit service. There is a linear relationship between audit tenure and the quality of audit. The regression analysis of this study has suggested that in Indonesia long audit tenure has positive effect to audit quality. Most of auditors in Indonesia get a deeper knowledge and clearer understanding of the client's business process and risk from the longer audit engagement period without harming their independence. This result is reinforced by the previous study conducted by Johnson, Khurana & Reynolds (2002), Myers et al. (2003) and Carcello & Nagy (2004) which stated that long audit tenure leads to a higher audit quality.

The second result is related to the effect of mandatory audit rotation in Indonesia. From the regression analysis, the mandatory regulation has no significant influence to audit quality. Additionally, the table statistic descriptive of audit rotation shows that more than half of the sample do not comply to the audit rotation regulation in Indonesia. Thus, further concern related to the enforcement of mandatory audit rotation in Indonesia is urgently needed. If the assumption

of the audit rotation's opponents is right, then the audit rotation is refused due to intention to retain the auditing firm's clients and a complex process needed in the rotation (Copeland, 2002; Myers et al., 2003).

An alternative solution could be considered by the government is by replacing form of this switching regulation in Indonesia by shifting the target of mandatory rotation regulation to the rotation of partners within the auditing firm. Partner switching regulation requires less complex processes compared with the whole auditing firm rotation. Additionally, the problem of high turnover in auditing firm may be addressed because there will be less travel relocation. Thus, the mandatory rotation could be easier to effectively enforce in order to improve auditors' independence without destroying the knowledge and understanding built within an audit engagement.

Furthermore, during the analysis, some variables were controlled to enhance the results. On one hand, Firm Profitability (ROA) and Auditing Firm Reputation (REP) have a significant relationship to the quality of audit. Similarly, with the previous studies of Mutchler (1985) and Rudkhani & Jabbari (2013) which described that ROA gives essential aid for auditors in assessing corporate risk management which consequently affected the quality of audit. Whereas, the findings of Firth and Tan (1998) enhance the result of a significant correlation from variable REP in this thesis due to likelihood of big 4 auditing firms to produce greater quality of audit service based on higher availability of resources, bigger responsibility to retain their reputation and wider experience in auditing international scale of companies.

On the other hand, the remaining control variables, Firm Size (SIZE) and Firm Debt Leverage Ratio (LEV) show no significant effect to the quality of audit. The result of an insignificant effect of variable SIZE is supported by the finding of Ettredge et al. (2011), which found out that the size of a company could not essentially help auditors in tracing a company's risk or misstatements. For

the reinforcement of the result of variable LEV, the study of Aledwan et al. (2015) defined that the debt composition or debt size of a firm is not supposed to have a prominent effect on auditors' professional opinion.

In conclusion, the aim of this thesis to give additional clarification points to the ambiguity of the effect from audit tenure and the effect of mandatory audit rotation to the quality of audit in the current debate is made up through the empirical analysis over the panel data of public companies in Indonesia. The research question is formulated as "Do the length of audit tenure and the implementation of mandatory audit rotation influence the quality of audit service in Indonesia?" and is answered throughout an analysis which generates two answers. Firstly, hypothesis 1a, which states that audit tenure has a positive significant effect to audit quality. This indicates the case of most auditors in Indonesia need more time in audit engagement to gather a better understanding in order to improve their competence, thus, improve audit quality. Secondly, an insignificant influence of the mandatory audit rotation to audit quality reflects that the mandatory rotation regulation in Indonesia has not been effectively enforced as it was intended by the authorities. Therefore, an alternative to repair this condition is required, such as shifting the form of audit rotation to the mandatory audit partner rotation.

5.2. LIMITATIONS

There are several limitations which possibly influence the results or why the hypotheses were accepted or rejected in this research. The first and foremost limitation of this thesis is the limited availability of Indonesian companies' data. The completeness of data is dependent of the availability of related data in the database. Since the focus of this thesis is to provide an evidence specifically from Indonesia, it is difficult to find and access complete auditing data from one specific country. The absence of several data which could have been used as the measurement basis of some essential variables such as, auditing fee data made the proxy for audit quality in this research is limited only to one element. The measurement of the variable used in this thesis could actually have been better with more proxies.

Another limitation is the use of dummy variable as the proxy to audit quality. There are only two possible values of audit quality in this research. Both category of 1 and 0 are somehow still lack ability to cover in-depth explanation of possible variation in the audit quality variable.

5.3. SUGGESTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

There are several suggestions which could be used for the future research regarding this topic. Firstly, this research could be done into the same topic and methodology but with different measurements of audit quality such as, auditing fee or number of material restatement. Thus, the possible variance in audit quality could be covered in a broader point of view. By using multiple measurement basis to cover different perceptions of various stakeholders regarding this topic, hopefully the flaw of this study could be overcome.

The second suggestion is since this thesis aims to provide additional clarification points to current debate regarding the influence of long audit tenure and the mandatory audit rotation to audit quality in Indonesia, future research could have been done better by broadening the scope of the sample. This research focuses only on companies which were listed on the Indonesian Stock Exchange, whereas there many other medium and small-scale companies that could be included in the research. By using broader scope of sample, the results of future research are expected to be able in providing more complete and stronger evidence from Indonesia regarding the influence of long audit tenure and mandatory audit rotation to the audit quality.

Additionally, what could also be considered to be done for future research is by extending the use of variable in this research such as, audit rotation. Based on the auditing data about the mandatory audit rotation in Indonesia from 2009 - 2016, there are a lot of companies which perform an artificial rotation to avoid the complex process of real audit rotation. Hence, it is expected that by separating artificial rotation data from real audit rotation could generate result which could show clearer finding regarding relationship between audit rotation and audit quality in Indonesia.

REFERENCES

- Adams, M. (1994). Agency theory and the internal audit. Managerial Auditing Journal, 9(8), 8–12.
- AICPA. (1992). Statement of Position Regarding Mandatory Rotation of Audit Firms of Publicly Held Companies. New York: AICPA.
- Aledwan, B.A., Yaseen, A.A.Bb and Alkubisi, A. (2015). The Role of Audit Quality on the Relationship between Auditor's and Financial Performance Quality of Selected Cement Firm in Jordan.

 International Journal of Business and Social Science, 6(12), 138-146.
- Allision, P. (2009). Fixed Effects Regression Models. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publisher.
- Arel, B., Brody, R. G., & Pany, K. (2005). Audit firm rotation and audit quality. *The CPA Journal*, 75(1), 36–39.
- Asthana, S. C., & Boone, J. P. (2012). Abnormal audit fee and audit quality. *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory*, 31(3), 1-22.
- Ball, R., Kothari, S. P., & Nikolaev, V. V. (2012). On estimating conditional conservatism. *The Accounting Review*, 88(3), 755-787.
- Beattie, V., Goodacre A., Pratt K. and Stevenson J. (2001). The determinants of audit fees- evidence from the voluntary sector. Accounting and Business Research, 31(4), 243-274.
- Berneth, J.B, Cole, M.S., Taylor, E.C. and Walker, H.J. (2017). Control Variables in Leadership Research: A Qualitative and Quantitative Review. *Journal of Management*, 44(1), 131-160.
- Berry, W. and Feldman, S. (2011). *Multiple regression in practice. Series: Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publisher.
- BDO. (2011). Concept Release on Auditor Independence and Audit Firm Rotation: PCAOB Release
 No. 2011-006, Rulemaking Docket Matter No. 037. New York, NY: BDO USA LLP.
- Biggs, J. H. (2002). Accounting and investor protection issues raised by Enron and other public companies: Oversight of the accounting profession, audit quality and independence, and formulation of accounting principles. Retrieved from 107th Congress 2nd Session website: http://banking.senate.gov

- Brown, G. H. (1947). A comparison of sampling methods. *Journal of Marketing*, 6, 331-337
- Campa, Domenico. (2013). Big 4 Fee Premium and Audit Quality: Latest Evidence from UK Listed Companies. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 28(8), 680-707.
- Carey, P. and Simnett, R. (2006). Audit Partner Tenure and audit Quality. *The Accounting Review*, 81, 653-676.
- Catanach, A., & Walker, P. (1999). The international debate over mandatory auditor rotation: A conceptual research framework. *Journal of International Accounting, Auditing & Taxation*, 8, 43–66.
- Chen, C. Y., Lin, C. J., and Lin, Y. C. (2008). Audit Partner Tenure, Audit Firm Tenure, and Discretionary Accruals: Does Long Auditor Tenure Impair Earnings Quality?. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 25(2), 415-445.
- Clark, T.S and Linzer, D.A. (2012). Should I Use Fixed or Random Effects. *Paper Series in Economics and Econometrics University of Southampton*, 302, 2-32.
- Carcello, J. V., & Nagy, A. L. (2004). Audit firm tenure and fraudulent financial reporting. *Auditing:*A Journal of Practice & Theory, 23(2), 55–70.
- Casterella, J. R., Jensen, K.L and W. Knechel, R. (2010) Litigation Risk and Audit Firm Characteristics. *Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory*, 29(2), 71-82.
- Chaney, Paul K. & Kirk L. Philipich. (2002). Shredded Reputation: The Cost of Audit Failure. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 40(4), 1221-1245.
- Chen, C-Y., Lin, C-J., & Lin, Y-C. (2008). Audit partner tenure, audit firm tenure and discretionary accruals: Does long auditor tenure impair earnings quality?. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 25, 415-445.
- Chi, W., H. Huang, Y. Liao, and H. Xie. 2009. Mandatory audit partner rotation, audit quality, and market perception: Evidence from Taiwan. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 26 (2), 359-391.
- Choi, J. H., Kim, J. B., & Zang, Y. (2010). Do abnormally high audit fees impair audit quality?. Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory, 29(2), 115-140

- Commission on Public Trust and Private Enterprise. (2003). Findings and recommendations. New York, NY: The Conference Board.
- Comunale, C.L., & Sexton, T.R. (2005). Mandatory auditor rotation and retention: Impact on market share. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 20 (3), 235-248.
- Copeland, J. E. (2002). Accounting and investor protection issues raised by Enron and other public companies: Oversight of the accounting profession, audit quality and independence, and formulation of accounting principles. Retrieved from 107th Congress 2nd website http://banking.senate.gov/
- Crabtree, A.D., Brandon, D.M., & Maher, J.J. (2006). The impact of auditor tenure on initial bond ratings. *Advanced in Accounting*, 22, 97-121.
- Daniels, B. W., & Booker, Q. (2009). Loan officers' reactions to audit rotation. *Journal of Behavioral Studies in Business*, 1, 1–13.
- Daniels, B. W. & Booker Q. (2011). The Effects of audit firm rotation on perceived auditor independence and audit quality. *Research in Accounting Regulation*, (23): 78-82.
- Dao, M., Mishra, S., & Raghunandan, K. (2008). Auditor tenure and shareholder ratification of auditors. *Accounting Horizons*, 22(3), 297–314.
- Davis, L., Soo, B., & Trompeter, G. (2009). Auditor tenure and the ability to meet or beat earnings forecasts. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 26(2), 517–548.
- DeAngelo, L. E. (1981). Auditor independence, low balling, and disclosure regulation. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 113-127.
- Dunham, K.J. (2002). Firms that want to switch auditors find it takes time, money, and faith.

 Retrieved from Wall Street Journal Online website https://www.wsj.com/
- Eisenhardt, K. (1989). Agency Theory: An assessment and review. *Academy of Management Review*, 14(1), 57–74.
- Ettredge, Michael. (2011) The Effects of Company Size, Corporate Governance Quality, and Bad News on Disclosure Compliance. *Review of Accounting Studies*. Retrieved from Scholars Works website: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11142-011-9153-8>.

- Ernst & Young. (2011). Concept Release on Auditor Independence and Audit Firm Rotation. PCAOB Rulemaking Docket Matter No. 37. New York, NY: Ernst & Young LLP.
- European Commission. (2010). Green paper Audit policy: Lessons from the crisis. Brussels: European Commission.
- European Commission. (2014). Directorate General Internal Market and Services, Mandatory Rotation of Statutory Auditors and Audit Firms & Transitional Provisions. Brussels: European Commission.
- Fama, E.F. & French, K.R. (1992). The Cross-Section of Expected Stock Returns. *The Journal of Finance*, 47(2), 427-465.
- Foster, B. & Shastri, T. (2016). Determinants of going concern opinions and audit fees for development stage enterprises. *Advances in Accounting, Incorporating Advances in International Accounting*, 33, 68-84.
- Francis, J. R., & Michas, P. N. (2012). The contagion effect of low-quality audits. *The Accounting Review*, 88(2), 521-552.
- Government Accountability Office. (2003). *Public accounting firms required study on the*potential effects of mandatory audit firm rotation. Retrieved from Government

 Accountability Office website http://www.gao.gov/
- Government Accountability Office. (2004). Mandatory audit firm rotation study. Washington DC: United States Government Accountability Office.
- Gates, S. K., Lowe, D. J., & Reckers, P. M. J. (2007). Restoring public confidence in capital markets through auditor rotation. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 22(1),5–17.
- Geiger, M. A., & Raghunandan, K. (2002). Auditor tenure and audit reporting failures. *Auditing Journal*, 21(1), 67–78.
- International Federation of Accountants. (2003). *Rebuilding public confidence in financial reporting*. New York: International Federation of Accountants.
- Johnson, V. E., Khurana, I. K., & Reynolds, J. K. (2002). Audit-firm tenure and the quality of financial reports. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 19(4),637–660.

- Jenkins, D. S., & Velury, U. (2008). Does auditor tenure influence the reporting of conservative earnings? *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, 27,115–132.
- Junaidi, S. Miharjo, and B. Hartadi. (2012). Does auditor tenure reduce audit quality? Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business, 14 (3):303-315.
- Law T. (2012). Combining qualitative and quantitative approaches: Some arguments for mixed methods research. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 56(2), 155-165.
- Lee, CJ, C Liu and T Wang. (1999). The 150-hour rule. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 27(2), 203-228.
- Kaplan, S., and Mauldin, E. (2008). Auditor rotation and the appearance of independence: Evidence from non-professional investors. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, 27, 177-192.
- Khasharmeh, H., & Said, K. (2014). Effects of Mandatory Audit Firm Rotation upon Quality of Audit:

 The Perception of Audit Firms—Evidence From Bahrain. *Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing*, 10(4), 425-44.
- Kingstone, G., Gerald W., Dzidzai C., Elizaberth S., Nyasha K., Trymore M., & Donnelie M. (2017).

 Mandatory Audit Firm Rotation and Audit Quality in Zimbabwe. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 8(6), 34-41.
- Lu, T. & Sivaramakrishnan, K. (2009). Mandatory audit firm rotation: fresh look vs poor knowledge. *Journal of Accounting and Public Policy*, 28, 71–91.
- Mautz, R. K., and Hussein. A. Sharaf. (1961). *The philosophy of auditing*. Sarasota, Florida: American Accounting Association.
- Menteri keuangan. (2002). KMK No.23/KMK.6/ 2002 tentang jasa akuntan publik. *Jurnal Akuntansi dan Keuangan Indonesia*, 8(1), 1-20
- Menteri Keuangan. (2008). *Peraturan menteri keuangan nomor: 17/PMK. 01/2008. Tentang Jasa Akuntan Publik*. Retrieved from Departemen Keuangan website https://www.depkeu.go.id/
- Mummolo, J. and Peterson, E. (2017). Improving the Interpretation of Fixed Effects Regression Results. *American Journal of Political Science*, 59(3), 708–723

- Mutchler, J. E. (1985). A multivariate analysis of auditors' going concern opinion decision, Auditing. *Journal of Practice and Theory*, 148-163.
- Myers, J. N., Myers, L. A., & Omer, T. C. (2003). Exploring the term of auditors—client relationship and the quality of earnings: A case for mandatory auditor rotation. *The Accounting Review*, 78(3), 779–799.
- O'Brien, R. and Patacchini, E. (2003). The Hausman Test for Correlated Effects in Panel Data Models under Misspecification. *Paper Series in Economics and Econometrics University of Southampton*, 302, 2-32.
- Onwuchekwa, J.C., Erah, D.O. & Izedonmi, F. (2012). Mandatory Audit Rotation and Audit Quality: Survey of Southern Nigeria. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 3(8), 70-77.
- Peecher, Mark E and M David Piercey. (2008). Judging audit quality in light of adverse outcomes: evidence of outcome bias and reverse outcome bias. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 25(1), 243-274.
- Peursem, K.A., Locke, J. & Harnisch N. (2005). Going concern guidance for New Zealand auditors: transitions in communicative acts. *Critical Perspective on Accounting*, 17, 109-137.
- Pierre, K., & Anderson, J. (1984). An analysis of the factors associated with lawsuits against public accountants. *The Accounting Review*, 59(2), 242-263.
- PricewaterhouseCoopers (2013). *Point of View: Mandatory Auditor Firm Rotation Other Changes*Would Be Better For Investors. Retrieved from PricewaterhouseCoopers website https://www.pwc.com/
- Rong, Qianwen. (2017). Mandatory Audit Firm and Audit Partner Rotation. *Honors Theses and Capstones*. p.351.
- Rudkhani, T.M.G and Jabbari, H. (2013). The Effect of Financial Ratios on Auditor Opinion in the Companies Listed on TSE. *European Online Journal of Natural and Social Science*, 2(3), 1363-1373.
- Samiloglu, F., Oztop, A.O. and Kahraman, Y. E. (2017). The Determinants of Firm Financial Performance: Evidence From Istanbul Stock Exchange (BIST). *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 8(6), 62-67.

- Sormunen, N.J. K. K., Sundgren, S. and Svanström, T. (2013). Harmonization of audit practice: empirical evidence from going-concern reporting in the Nordic countries. *International journal of auditing*, 17(3), 308-326.
- Sayyar, H., Basiruddin, R., Abdul R. S. Z., & Sayyar, L. (2014). Mandatory audit firm and audit partner rotation. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6(26), 352-389.
- Siregar, S. V., Fitriany, A. W. & Anggraita, V. (2012). Audit Tenure, Audit Rotation and Audit Quality: The Case of Indonesia. *Asian Journal of Business and Accounting*, 5(1), 55-74.
- Stice J. D. (1991). Using financial and market information to identify pre engagement factors associated with lawsuits against auditors. *The Accounting Review*, 66(3), 516-533.
- U.S. House of Representatives. (2002). *The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.Public Law 107-204*. Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office.
- Vanstraelen, A. (2000). Impact of renewable long-term audit mandates on audit quality. *The European Accounting Review*, 9 (3), 419-443.
- Warrick, C. Shane and Quinton Booker. (2012). Audit Firm Independence Safeguards for the Revolving Door Practice. *Journal of Finance and Accountancy*, 22(1), 1-10.
- Watts, R & J. Zimmerman (1986). The demand of and supply for accounting theories. *The Accounting Review*, 54(2), 273–305.
- Williams, L. Tyler and W. Mark Wilder. (2017). Audit Firm Perspective on Audit Firm Rotation and Enhancing Independence: Evidence from PCAOB Comment Letters. *American Accounting Association*, 11(1), 22-44.

APPENDICE

Appendix 1. Random Effects Regression Results

QUA	ODDS	STANDARD	7	P> z	{95% Conf. Interval}	
	RATIO	ERROR	Z			
TEN	0,8045424	0,558871	-3,13	0,002	0,7021351	0,9218859
ROT	3,532472	1,470974	3,03	0,002	1,561801	7,989722
Logsize	1,756625	0,2042701	4,84	0,000	1,39861	2,206284
ROA_Complete	1,03845	0,011824	3,31	0,001	1,015532	1,061885
Loglev	0,8922026	0,790698	-1,29	0,198	0,7499415	1,06145
REP	14,74475	7,999118	4,96	0,000	5,09161	42,69918
_cons	0,0000363	0,0000848	-4,38	0,000	3,73307	0,0035321
/Insig2u	0,2448652	0,4264508			-0,590963	1,080693
sigma_u	1,130243	0,2409965			0,7441732	1,716602
rho	0,2796935	0,859149			0,1440797	0,4724893